1	IN THE SUPREME COURT (OF THE ST.	ATE OF	NEVADA	
2 3	LYNN YAFCHAK, Statutory Heir and Special Administrator to the ESTATE OF JOAN YAFCHAK, Deceased,	Case No.:	82746	Electronically Filed Sep 16 2021 11:08	l Bam
4	Appellants,			Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme	ר
5	vs.				
6 7	LIFE CARE CENTERS OF AMERICA, a foreign corporation d/b/a LIFE CARE CENTER OF SOUTH				
8	LAS VEGAS; and DOES 1-10, inclusive,				
9	Respondent.				
10	A DDELL A NTC? A DDEND		ENINCI	DDIFE	
11	<u>APPELLANTS' ADDENDUM TO OPENING BRIEF</u> <u>PURSUANT TO NRAP 28(f)</u>				
12	VOLUME 1 (ADD 0001-0213)				
13					
14	COGBURN LAW Jamie S. Cogburn, Esq.				
15	Nevada Bar No. 8409 jsc@cogburncares.com				
16	Joseph J. Troiano, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 12505				
17	jjt@cogburncares.com 2580 St. Rose Parkway, Suite 330				
18	Henderson, Nevada 89074 Telephone: (702) 748-7777				
19	Facsimile: (702) 966-3880 Attorneys for Appellants				
20	inomeys for inpremius				
21					
	Page	1 of 3			
		Doc	ket 82746	Document 2021-26809	

1	NUMERICAL INDEX	
2	(in order of citation in Brief)	
	DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION	LOCATION
3	S.B. 292, Minutes of Hearing of the Senate Committee	Vol. 1
	on Judiciary on Mar. 26, 2015, 78th Sess. (Nev. 2015)	ADD 0001–0043
4	A.B. 1, 18 th Spec. Sess. Pt. 1 (Nev. 2002)	Vol. 1
_		ADD 0044–0049
5	A.B. 1, 18 th Spec. Sess. Pt. 5 (Nev. 2002)	Vol. 1
		ADD 0050-0213
6	A.B. 1, 18 th Spec. Sess. Pt. 2 (Nev. 2002)	Vol. 2
7		ADD 0214-0378
7	A.B. 289, 76th Sess. (Nev. 2011)	Vol. 2
8		ADD 0379–0410
0	S.B. 292, 78th Sess. (Nev. 2015)	Vol. 2
9		ADD 0411–0416
9	S.B. 130, 80th Sess. (Nev. 2019)	Vol. 3
10		ADD 0417–0475
10	S.B. 292, Exhibit H proposed to Senate Committee on	Vol. 3
11	Judiciary on Mar. 26, 2015, 78th Sess. (Nev. 2015)	ADD 0476-0480
11	S.B. 292, Exhibit N proposed to Senate Committee on	Vol. 3
12	Judiciary on May 26, 2015, 78th Sess. (Nev. 2015)	ADD 0481–0482
12	S.B. 292, Minutes of Hearing of the Senate Committee	Vol. 3
13	on Judiciary on May 26, 2015, 78th Sess. (Nev. 2015)	ADD 0483-0542
10	S.B. 80, 69th Sess. Combined Legislative History	Vol. 3
14	(Nev. 1997)	ADD 0543-0616
	Legislative Subcommittee to Study Medical	Vol. 3
15	Malpractice, LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL BUREAU BULLETIN	ADD 0617–0654
	No. 03-9 (Jan. 2003) A.B. 1, 18 th Spec. Sess. Pt. 4 (Nev. 2002)	Vol. 4
16	A.B. 1, 18 Spec. Sess. Pt. 4 (Nev. 2002)	ADD 0655–0790
		ADD 0055-0790
17		
18		
19		
20		
21		
	Page 2 of 3	

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

3 A.B. 1, 18 th Spec. Sess. Pt. 1 (Nev. 2002) 3 A.B. 1, 18 th Spec. Sess. Pt. 2 (Nev. 2002)	Vol. 1 ADD 0044–0049
	ADD 0044-0049
A.B. 1, 18 th Spec. Sess. Pt. 2 (Nev. 2002)	
	Vol. 2
4	ADD 0214–0378
A.B. 1, 18 th Spec. Sess. Pt. 4 (Nev. 2002)	Vol. 4
5	ADD 0655–0790
A.B. 1, 18 th Spec. Sess. Pt. 5 (Nev. 2002)	Vol. 1
6	ADD 0050–0213
A.B. 289, 76th Sess. (Nev. 2011)	Vol. 2
7	ADD 0379–0410
Legislative Subcommittee to Study Medical	Vol. 3
8 Malpractice, LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL BUREAU BULLET	TIN ADD 0617–0654
No. 03-9 (Jan. 2003)	
9 S.B. 130, 80th Sess. (Nev. 2019)	Vol. 3
	ADD 0417–0475
10 S.B. 292, 78th Sess. (Nev. 2015)	Vol. 2
11	ADD 0411–0416
¹¹ S.B. 292, Exhibit H proposed to Senate Committee of	on Vol. 3
Judiciary on Mar. 26, 2015, 78th Sess. (Nev. 2015)	ADD 0476–0480
¹² S.B. 292, Exhibit N proposed to Senate Committee of	on Vol. 3
Judiciary on May 26, 2015, 78th Sess. (Nev. 2015)	ADD 0481–0482
13 S.B. 292, Minutes of Hearing of the Senate Committee	
14 on Judiciary on Mar. 26, 2015, 78th Sess. (Nev. 2013	
S.B. 292, Minutes of Hearing of the Senate Committ	
15 on Judiciary on May 26, 2015, 78th Sess. (Nev. 2015)	5) ADD 0483–0542
S.B. 80, 09th Sess. Combined Legislative History	Vol. 3
16 (Nev. 1997)	ADD 0543–0616
17	
17	

MINUTES OF THE SENATE COMMITTEE ON JUDICIARY

Seventy-Eighth Session March 26, 2015

The Senate Committee on Judiciary was called to order by Chair Greg Brower at 1:05 p.m. on Thursday, March 26, 2015, in Room 2134 of the Legislative Building, Carson City, Nevada. The meeting was videoconferenced to Room 4412E of the Grant Sawyer State Office Building, 555 East Washington Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada. <u>Exhibit A</u> is the Agenda. <u>Exhibit B</u> is the Attendance Roster. All exhibits are available and on file in the Research Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau.

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT:

Senator Greg Brower, Chair Senator Becky Harris, Vice Chair Senator Michael Roberson Senator Scott Hammond Senator Ruben J. Kihuen Senator Aaron D. Ford

COMMITTEE MEMBERS ABSENT:

Senator Tick Segerblom (Excused)

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT:

Patrick Guinan, Policy Analyst Nick Anthony, Counsel Cassandra Grieve, Committee Secretary

OTHERS PRESENT:

Garrett Gordon, Community Associations Institute; Olympia Companies; Southern Highlands Homeowners Association
Donna Zanetti, Community Associations Institute
Angela Rock, Southern Highlands Homeowners Association; Olympia Companies
Mark Leon, Mountain's Edge Master Association
Marilyn Brainard, Wingfield Springs Community Association
Pamela Scott, The Howard Hughes Corporation

Senate Committee on Judiciary March 26, 2015 Page 2 Glen Proctor Jon Sasser, Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada Kathie Chism Jonathan Friedrich, Nevada Homeowner Alliance Barbara Holland, H&L Realty and Management Company Keith Wand Bruce Woodbury J.D. Decker, Administrator, Real Estate Division, Department of Business and Industry Jennifer Gaynor, Nevada Credit Union League; Fundamental Administrative Services, LLC Marcus Conklin, Nevada Mortgage Lending Association George Ross, Nevada Bankers Association John Cotton, Keep Our Doctors In Nevada Rudy Manthei, M.D., Keep Our Doctors In Nevada Robert Rourke, Horizon Hospital and Rehabilitation Center Darrin Cook, CEO, Horizon Specialty Hospitals Margo Piscevich, Nevada Rural Hospital Partners Foundation Kathleen Conaboy, Nevada Orthopaedic Society Denise Selleck, Executive Director, Nevada Osteopathic Medical Association Elizabeth MacMenamin, Retail Association of Nevada; Retail Chain Drug Council Adam Plain, Nevada Dental Association Stephen Osborne, Nevada Justice Association Christian Morris, Nevada Justice Association Lawrence Smith John Echeverria, Nevada Justice Association

Chair Brower:

I will open the hearing of the Senate Committee on Judiciary with <u>Senate Bill (S.B.) 260</u>.

SENATE BILL 260: Revises provisions governing common-interest communities. (BDR 10-726)

Senator Becky Harris (Senatorial District No. 9):

During the economic collapse, long before I contemplated being a member of the Nevada Senate, I saw the necessity for <u>S.B. 260</u>. As an attorney who represents homeowners losing their homes to foreclosure, I know if homeowners are not making mortgage payments, they are also not making their

association payments. Delinquent association payments pose a problem for banks with regard to superpriority liens and who can lay claim to the title of a property or when foreclosure is appropriate. <u>Senate Bill 260</u> provides a solution to a larger problem of when associations are able to foreclose.

Generally, the association's lien is not prior to a first security interest on a unit; however, the association's lien is prior to the first security interest on a unit to the extent of certain maintenance and abatement charges and a certain amount of assessments for common expenses. The portion of the association's lien that is prior to the first security interest on the unit is commonly referred to as the superpriority lien.

<u>Senate Bill 260</u> requires lenders to establish impound accounts for the payments of common-interest community assessments. Since banks already impound for taxes and insurance, they should also impound for association fees. If banks establish impound accounts for association fees, they will have real-time knowledge of their secured interest in those properties. Under <u>S.B. 260</u>, banks will access their customers' accounts to determine if mortgage payments include association dues.

Including association dues with mortgage payments would be helpful for people in various situations: people burdened with writing monthly dues checks, people forgetting about their payments or people who may not want to bother with their household obligations. Under <u>S.B. 260</u>, homeowners will make their mortgage payments and have stability in dealing with the expenses of their properties.

The Committee will hear opposition to this bill from lending institutions. The banks will say putting association fees into impound accounts is something they cannot do and that creating and managing such accounts will be expensive and burdensome. To that argument, I say implementing <u>S.B. 260</u> will not be any more expensive than having a first mortgage wiped out because of a superpriority lien by an association.

To the claim that <u>S.B. 260</u> will be burdensome, I point out that banks were able to get the necessary requirements in place to work with the State's Foreclosure Mediation Program. Additionally, since January 2015, WestStar Credit Union voluntarily collects association fees as part of its mortgage payment plan.

Creating an impound account for association fees makes common sense and is good for the consumer and associations. Associations do not want to hire collection companies to go after the homeowner for unpaid dues. Having impound accounts is good for the banks because they will have first-hand, real-time knowledge of their investments. Banks will be in control and be able to make sure association fees are paid in a timely manner, thereby ensuring associations cannot take their security away.

Senator Hammond:

I thank Senator Harris for bringing this consumer-friendly bill to the Committee.

Garrett Gordon (Community Associations Institute; Olympia Companies; Southern Highlands Community Association):

We support <u>S.B. 260</u> and appreciate Senator Harris putting forward a commonsense solution to this problem. This is the fourth session I have worked on common-interest community bills, and every session deals with the question of whether there should be judicial or nonjudicial foreclosures. Every session, we attempt to sort out answers to questions such as the cost of collections and payment plans.

This Session alone has 25 common-interest community bills, many trying to do a fix for the lending industry relating to superpriority liens and the recent Nevada Supreme Court case, *SFR Investments Pool 1 v. U.S. Bank*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 75, 334 P.3d 408 (2014). Even the Nevada Supreme Court attempted a fix hearing that case, posing many of the same questions again: How should the superpriority lien problem be addressed? Should more notice to lenders be provided? Should the process be stretched out? If so, for how long?

<u>Senate Bill 260</u> is a commonsense solution because an impound account resolves all these problems. With an impound account, there would be no more discussion about associations foreclosing, the cost of collection, how much the costs should be and how long payment plans should continue. Associations want only to be paid so the landscaper can be paid, the gate maintained, the water bill paid, etc.

We understand that an impound account would not apply to a cash buyer, so a provision is necessary to address that. We know impound accounts would not apply retroactively and only be applicable going forward with respect to new loans or the refinancing of loans.

I spoke with Senator Harris about some citation tweaks, so an amendment is needed. Senator Harris agreed to sponsor such an amendment if <u>S.B. 260</u> goes to work session.

Chair Brower:

If people are in the audience here on behalf of an association that supports this bill, the Committee knows the association community supports this bill. In an effort to save time, please keep your testimonies brief.

Donna Zanetti (Community Associations Institute):

The Nevada Legislative Action Committee of the Community Associations Institute is comprised of people who work for management companies, law firms and collection agencies. We support <u>S.B. 260</u> even though it may reduce the income we derive from assisting associations with collections. We support the bill because it is good for the associations, which only want to be paid so they can provide the services required of them.

Chair Brower:

As an association payer myself, I think homeowners want to pay their dues and do not want to forget, which is part of the rationale behind S.B. 260.

Angela Rock (Southern Highlands Community Association; Olympia Companies):

I have testified alongside Mr. Gordon countless times over many sessions on the multitude of problems affecting the ability of homeowners to pay their assessments. I testified last week in front of the Assembly Committee on Judiciary on issues regarding judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure and superpriority liens. I was asked how I would solve the problem, and I mentioned <u>S.B. 260</u>.

Put simply, impound accounts solve problems. Providing impound accounts solves the biggest problem of all—which is homeowners forgetting to pay their dues. It also solves the problem of unjust enrichment. It seems unjust that a home worth \$800,000 forecloses for \$5,000. While <u>S.B. 260</u> forces an infrastructure shift for the banks, in the end, the bill protects them. Senator Harris outlined that expertly. We support this bill.

Mark Leon (Mountain's Edge Master Association):

I support <u>S.B. 260</u> and submit my testimony (<u>Exhibit C</u>).

Marilyn Brainard (Wingfield Springs Community Association):

Impound accounts are the best way to solve the current situation. I hope the banks and lending companies find a way to make <u>S.B. 260</u> work. Impound accounts will protect bank investments as well as the properties. I support <u>S.B. 260</u>.

Pamela Scott (The Howard Hughes Corporation):

I support <u>S.B. 260</u> because it solves many problems the banks are having with foreclosed properties. The banks have made business decisions to slow down or even stop many foreclosures. We have been tracking bank foreclosures in Summerlin since 2010. In this time, foreclosures in Summerlin reached a high of 1,043 properties; there were 125 foreclosed properties last year. There are still numerous liens filed against properties and many years' worth of foreclosures that have not even happened yet.

If an impound account is set up under <u>S.B. 260</u> and the bank continues to pay that property's association fees while waiting out its foreclosure, it makes good sense and is less expensive than losing equity on that property, paying collection costs, etc.

Glen Proctor:

I have had my home in Mountain's Edge since 2008 and my mortgage is with JPMorgan Chase. The company has an escrow account for both my Clark County Special Improvement District payment and my taxes, and I have never received a notice of late or nonpayment. The escrow system works, and S.B. 260 is a marvelous solution for every party involved.

The banks are going to say it will cost them money to implement <u>S.B. 260</u>, but many property assessments are due quarterly, so the banks will earn interest on the monthly payments. Banks already have a system in place to handle other types of payments, so they will not have to create a new system to manage association fees.

My association spent \$375,000 in collection costs last year, not counting foreclosure notices. That is money the association would not have had to spend if impound accounts had been in place. My assessment might even go down if my association does not have to spend that kind of money yearly.

Jon Sasser (Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada):

We represent the third group in this process, the homeowners. We think homeowners will benefit along with the banks and the associations. <u>Senate Bill 260</u> takes care of the problem of remembering to pay. Additionally, only about 10 percent of nonjudicial foreclosures actually go to foreclosure sale. The vast majority of foreclosures are taken care of by homeowners before becoming final, but by that point, homeowners are paying hundreds, if not thousands of dollars, in collection costs for overdue fees.

<u>Senate Bill 260</u> will help homeowners avoid getting into arrears and help the banks because those collection costs will have been avoided. This bill is a win for all involved.

Kathie Chism:

I live in Yellowstone, a development within Mountain's Edge, so I pay two association fees. Both of my association fees increased this year, and I believe the reason was the huge collection costs my association incurred trying to collect dues owed by people who did not pay their assessments. I support <u>S.B. 260</u> because it will save me money as a homeowner. Associations will save money on collection costs, and as a result, my assessment costs may stabilize. I am a retired schoolteacher on a fixed income; I cannot afford for my assessments to go up year after year.

Jonathan Friedrich (Nevada Homeowner Alliance):

I support <u>S.B. 260</u>. Does the bill consider those who do not have a mortgage? Also, has there been input from the banking industry on this bill?

Chair Brower:

Your points are good. We will hear testimony from the banking industry today.

Barbara Holland (H&L Realty and Management Company):

I support <u>S.B. 260</u>. This Session, numerous bills in both the Assembly and the Senate use the term "judicial foreclosure." Judicial foreclosure—also discussed last week in the Assembly Committee on Judiciary hearing on <u>Assembly Bill 240</u>—would be disastrous to all associations. No association will be able to afford the time and money to participate in judicial foreclosure.

ASSEMBLY BILL 240: Revises provisions governing liens of a unit-owners' association. (BDR 10-821)

In 2013, the Legislature passed S.B. No. 280 of the 77th Session, which allowed lenders to impound association fees in the way lenders impound property taxes and insurance expenses under *Nevada Revised Statutes* (NRS) 116. Lenders could have taken advantage of that law to insulate themselves from losing loans in their portfolios. <u>Senate Bill 260</u> changes that language, thereby forcing banks to create impound accounts. This bill solves so many different problems, especially since too many bills this Session have the word "judicial" in them.

It will be too costly for associations to pursue judicial foreclosure. It is already costly for associations to wait for banks to finally foreclose on properties in order to get the money owed. Associations are sitting on a large amount of delinquencies, and homeowners who do pay their assessments are paying increasing assessments solely because the associations do not have enough money to do the basic operations required of them.

This is a good bill, but banks may pose an obstacle by claiming not to know who manages a property. There are ways for banks to access the information needed with regard to management companies. The Real Estate Division is a resource banks can use to solve that issue. Property managers must report to the Real Estate Division yearly on who has the first deed of trust on a property. The Division must be notified every time a management company changes a portfolio or a property is lost to foreclosure. It will be easier for banks to access the necessary information through the Division than for property managers to investigate the various lenders.

This fix to the law is long overdue and will take care of many problems regarding late fees, collection costs, etc.

Keith Wand:

I am a homeowner in Henderson. I met with Senator Harris and Senator Hammond in Carson City regarding <u>S.B. 260</u>. I have been a financial planner in Las Vegas for 10 years and have many contacts in the banking industry. These industry contacts have told me that when association fees are impounded, they are included in the mortgage calculations made when a buyer seeks to qualify for a mortgage.

Because it is likely to be unpopular, Legislators and bankers will not say this, but there are times when people should not buy homes. Association costs should be included in a mortgage; if they were to be included, it may put that house out of reach for a buyer—a reality that needs to be reviewed. I support <u>S.B. 260</u>. We need to protect our communities. Not everyone may favor associations, but they exist for a reason, and we need to fund them.

Bruce Woodbury:

I am an attorney in Boulder City who represents a few associations and other interested individuals. I support S.B. 260.

J.D. Decker (Administrator, Real Estate Division, Department of Business and Industry):

We protect the common-interest community marketplace as well as regulate it and the broader real estate marketplace. It is important to the Real Estate Division that homeowners pay associations in a timely manner. It is also important that the lender protect its security interest in property. Any positive impact this bill would have on the common-interest community marketplace would extend to the broader real estate market.

Jennifer Gaynor (Nevada Credit Union League):

While we appreciate the intent of the bill, we oppose <u>S.B. 260</u>. I submit a written statement outlining the reasons for our opposition (Exhibit D).

Our issues with the bill revolve around the legality and feasibility of implementing <u>S.B. 260</u>. On top of the expected implementation expense, there are technical concerns. One concern is residents within associations may have difficulty disputing erroneous association charges paid via an escrow account. Another concern is credit unions would be required to adjust the variability of association payments out of escrow accounts to address nonregular association payments, such as capital improvements.

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