Case No. 82746

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

LYNN YAFCHAK, statutory heir and special administrator to the ESTATE OF JOAN YAFCHAK, deceased,

Appellant,

vs.

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS, LLC, d/b/a LIFE CARE CENTER OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS, erroneously named as LIFE CARE CENTERS OF AMERICA, a foreign corporation,

Respondent.

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable CHRYSTAL ELLER District Judge District Court Case No. A-20-822688-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

Yafchak's attempt to distinguish or overrule *Curtis* in this case is further undermined by this court's recent opinion in *Montanez v. Sparks Family Hospital, Inc.*, 137 Nev., Adv. Op. 77, 499 P.3d 1189 (Dec. 9, 2021). There, Montanez underwent a surgical procedure on her eye, after which her eye became infected and she went blind. *Montanez*, 137 Nev., Adv. Op. at 2, 499 P.3d at 1191. Montanez sought damages for medical malpractice and a premises liability claim. *Id.* She did not include a medical expert affidavit. *Id.* Montanez argued that a medical expert affidavit was not required because the negligence fell under the res ipsa loquitur exception in NRS 41A.100(1)(a). Montanez also argued that the infection to her eye could have been caused by a nonmedical mistake, such as the failure to maintain a clean building. *Id.*, 137 Nev., Adv. Op. at 3, 499 P.3d at 1191. Montanez argued that she had no way of knowing before discovery whether the bacteria that infected her eye entered her body through professional negligence or the simple failure to keep the room clean. *Id.*

Although *Montanez* involved a hospital, who is a provider of health care, the negligent act could have been performed by a janitor, who is not a provider of health care. *See id.*, 137 Nev., Adv. Op. at 7-8 n.2, 499 P.3d at 1193 n.2. Still, the court held that "the level of cleanliness that a medical provider must maintain is inherently linked to the provision of medical treatment." *Id.*, 137 Nev., Adv. Op. at 7, 499 P.3d at 1193. Accordingly, a medical expert was necessary to explain the cleaning protocols a hospital should adhere to and explain how negligence involving those "protocols would have caused a bacterial infection like Montanez experienced." *Id.*, 137 Nev., Adv. Op. at 7-8 n.2, 499 P.3d at 1193 n.2. The court also rejected Montanez's res ipsa loquitur argument, noting that the common knowledge exception did not apply. The court reasoned that "[t]here are many ways that bacteria could be introduced into and remain in the body during and/or post-surgery, causing a subsequent infection—some of which do not result from the medical provider's negligence." *Montanez*, 137 Nev., Adv. Op. at 5, 499 P.3d at 1192. Whether the infection "was caused by a medical provider's professional negligence is beyond the purview of the average person's common knowledge" and therefore "outside the intended scope of the exceptions to the affidavit requirement." *Id*.

Yafchak's claim for ordinary negligence is actually weaker than the premises-liability claim in *Montanez*. *Montanez* at least involved an allegation of ordinary negligence that the cleaning staff failed to keep the building clean. No such clear allegation of ordinary negligence is made in this case. Nonetheless, this Court determined that the cleanliness of the building was inherently tied to medical treatment and that the possibility of multiple causative factors for the plaintiff's injury—some medical and some nonmedical—required medical expert testimony to explain causation to the jury.

Here, similarly, testimony from a nurse and/or doctor would be

necessary to explain the duties involved in caring for a patient in Joan's condition and how LCC's actions could have caused Joan to fall in the manner that she did or to contract the infections that she did in light of her other ongoing medical conditions.

Like the eye injury in *Montanez*, Yafchak's injuries are inherently linked to medical diagnosis, judgment, and treatment such that a medical expert is necessary to explain the causative factors for Joan's fall and infections. As discussed above, there are numerous factors involving medical diagnosis, judgment, and treatment that could cause Joan to fall from bed or contract a urinary tract infection. Without a medical expert, the jury would not be able to assess how those injuries could be caused and whether they were in fact caused by LCC's negligent medical diagnosis, judgment, or treatment.

C. A Claim Labeled as "Older Person Abuse" Is Still Subject to The Professional Negligence Statutes When it is Based on the Medical Diagnosis, Judgment, or Treatment of a Health Care Provider

This Court in *Estate of Curtis* already rejected the argument that applying NRS 41A.071's affidavit requirement to cases involving an older person would "eviscerate" the protections of NRS 41.1395. *See* Amicus Brief at 27 (arguing with the conclusion of *Estate of Curtis*). In *Estate of* *Curtis*, the plaintiff made the same argument "that requiring an expert affidavit [would] defeat[] the purpose of Nevada's elder abuse statute." *Estate of Curtis*, 136 Nev. at 352, 466 P.3d at 1266. This Court disagreed, holding that it was not "persuaded that requiring compliance with NRS 41A.071 eviscerates the protections of NRS 41.1395." *See Estate of Curtis*, 136 Nev. at 358 n.5, 466 P.3d at 170 n.5. The NJA dismisses this holding as "footnote dicta" and urges that application of the professional negligence statutes would indeed eviscerate the protections of the older person abuse statute. *See* Amicus Brief at 3-4, 21, 24, 26-27.

Yafchak and the NJA attempt to create a conflict between the older person abuse statute and the professional negligence requirements that does not exist at this stage of the proceedings.⁴ Namely, they frame older person abuse as its own distinct cause of action with a two-year statute of limitation. *See* Amicus Brief at 26-27; AOB at 22-31. And then they argue

⁴ The NJA's "footnote dicta" argument is also undercut by the Nevada Supreme Court's later consideration of the Estate of Curtis's claims in Docket No. 79396 (Order of Affirmance, October 23, 2020), where this Court affirmed dismissal of the Estate of Curtis's claims for older person abuse against an LCC administrator as time-barred under the professional negligence statute. *See Estate of Curtis v. S. Las Vegas Med. Inv'rs, LLC*, No. 79396, 474 P.3d 335, 2020 WL 6271201 (Nev. Oct. 23, 2020) (unpublished). This Court in Docket No. 79396 had no issue applying *Estate of Curtis*'s analysis to a claim for older person abuse directly against

that applying the professional negligence statutory scheme to claims involving older person abuse "would cut the limitation period in half, cap noneconomic damages, and increase filing costs." Amicus Brief at 27.⁵

This is a false crisis, because there is no such thing as an independent tort claim for older person abuse under NRS 41.1395. "NRS 41.1395(1) does not constitute an independent cause of action but rather is a provision for special damages." *Borenstein v. Animal Foundation*, 526 F. Supp. 3d 820, 840 (D. Nev. 2021); *Doe v. Clark County School District*, 2016 WL 4432683 at *13 (D. Nev. 2016) (same); *see also Phipps v. Clark County School District*, 164 F. Supp. 3d 1220, 1229 (D. Nev. 2016) (referring to NRS 41.1395 as a provision for "enhanced damages").⁶

an LCC administrator.

⁵ Even if NRS 41.1395 *did* create a cause of action, it did not specify a twoyear statute of limitations. The NJA presumably draws from the two-year limitations period for *common-law* negligence claims in NRS 41.190(4)(e). But if we have to look outside NRS 41.1395 anyway, there is no argument that the limitations period in NRS 41A.097 is inconsistent with NRS 41.1395 for acts of older person abuse that arise from professional negligence. Here, even if NRS 41.1395 excused noncompliance with the affidavit requirement of NRS 41A.071, Yafchak's complaint was still untimely filed more than a year after Joan's death.

⁶ LCC notes that this Court in an unpublished order recognized NRS 41.1395 as a provision for special damages that must be specifically pleaded. *See Findlay Management Group v. Jenkins*, Docket No. 60920, 131 Nev. 1278, 2015 WL 5728870, at *2 (Sept. 28, 2015) (unpublished order affirming in part, reversing in part, and remanding). Consistent with

When the Legislature creates an independent cause of action, it says so in the statute. See Richardson Const., Inc. v. Clark County School Dist., 123 Nev. 61, 65, 156 P.3d 21, 23 (2007) ("[W]hen a statute does not expressly provide for a private cause of action, the absence of such a provision suggests that the Legislature did not intend for the statute to be enforced through a private cause of action."). Although some of the wording in the legislative history of NRS 41.1395 discusses a "cause of action" for older person abuse, the actual enacted language does not create a cause of action. Instead of providing the ability to bring an "action," which is what the Legislature says when it creates a cause of action, NRS 41.1395 provides double damages and attorney's fees and costs when specific circumstances exist involving injury or death to an older person. See NRS 41.1395(1) (providing that "the person who caused the injury, death or loss is liable to the older person . . . for two times the actual damages incurred").

In numerous other instances in NRS chapter 41, the Legislature expressly created causes of "action." *See, e.g.*, NRS 41.085 (providing that in the case of a wrongful death, the heirs and personal representatives of

NRAP 36(c)(3), however, LCC does not cite or rely on this decision for its

the decedent "may each maintain an action for damages"); NRS 41.134 (providing, in the same chapter as NRS 41.1395, "an action to recover for the person's actual damages" for acts of domestic violence); NRS 41.1345 (providing, in the same chapter, that a person who suffers from the sale or transfer of personal identifying information may "commence an action"); NRS 41.139(1) (providing that first responders "may bring and maintain an action"); NRS 41.1396(1) ("may bring an action"). Similarly, other states who have independent causes of action for older person abuse expressly provided that right of action. See, e.g., A.R.S. § 46-455(B) (Arizona statute authorizing a vulnerable adult to "file an action in superior court"); Conn. Gen. Stat. §17b-462(a) (Connecticut statute giving "a cause of action" to elderly person "who has been the victim of abuse, neglect, exploitation or abandonment"); Or. Rev. Stat. § 124.100(2) (Oregon statute authorizing an elderly person to "bring an action" for abuse); Wis. Stat. §50.10 (Wisconsin statute titled "Private cause of action" that states that nursing home residents have "an independent cause of action" to correct conditions in a nursing home). There is no such authorization to bring an "action" in NRS 41.1395, underscoring that it is actually a special damages provision.

precedential or persuasive value.

In most cases, this legal distinction might not be raised or make a difference, because a plaintiff should be able to allege negligence or an intentional tort if the conduct meets NRS 41.1395's requirements.⁷ But here, Yafchak and the NJA rely on the older person abuse statute to create an independent cause of action that provides greater rights to older persons that are in conflict with protections for providers of health care under NRS Chapter 41A. In response to the arguments raised by the NJA, this Court should recognize that NRS 41.1395 is a special damages provision, not a standalone cause of action that is in conflict with NRS Chapter 41A.071's affidavit requirement. Because NRS 41.1395 is a statutory special damages provision, not a standalone cause of action with its own statute of limitation, it is only applicable after a plaintiff has proven damages for some other recognized cause of action against a defendant.

Specifically, NRS 41.1395 has no effect on this Court's analysis of

⁷ This could explain why some cases analyze older person abuse as a "claim" in its own right. *See, e.g., Lewis v. Renown Regional Medical Center*, No. 74300, 134 Nev. 973, 2018 WL 6721372 (Dec. 18, 2018) (unpublished). Notably, *Estate of Curtis* itself refers to "older abuse" as a claim in footnote five, although that is not inconsistent with older person abuse being a claim for special damages. Given the NJA's disregard for footnote five of the *Estate of Curtis* opinion, it would be ironic if the court's ambiguous word choice of "claim" were the one thing from *Curtis* that Yafchak and the NJA would preserve.

whether Yafchak's claim is for ordinary negligence or professional negligence. If Yafchak's underlying claims are for professional negligence instead of ordinary negligence, then the complaint must meet NRS 41A.071's affidavit requirement. The Legislature's enactment of a special damages provision for claims involving injury or death to older persons has no effect on the original pleading requirements in a claim for professional negligence. *See Estate of Curtis*, 136 Nev. at 358 n.5, 466 P.3d at 170 n.5. Accordingly, the question that is raised by Yafchak and the NJA—whether special damages awarded under the older person abuse statute may conflict with NRS 41A.035's cap on noneconomic damages for professional negligence—is not an issue before this Court at this time.⁸

Even when a claim involves alleged abuse of an older person, the affidavit requirement plays an important role in preventing frivolous claims against medical professionals. A party can assert a claim for professional negligence with a supporting medical affidavit and then expand its ordinary negligence claims later. *See* NRCP 54(c) (directing that a final judgment should "grant the relief to which each party is

⁸For it to be an issue, Yafchak would have had to have properly asserted a professional negligence claim with an expert affidavit within one year of Joan's death, while also pleading special damages under the older person

entitled, even if the party has not demanded such relief in its pleadings); NRCP 15(b) (allowing amendment of pleadings based on evidence at trial). But a party cannot, as Yafchak apparently attempts to do here, avoid the affidavit requirement at the outset by filing a complaint lacking in specific factual allegations and then proceed with claims that are actually based on the medical judgment, diagnosis, and treatment of medical professionals. *See* NRS 41A.071 (requiring an expert medical affidavit in "an action for professional negligence"); *Washoe Medical Center v. Second Judicial Dist. Court*, 122 Nev. at 1303 (holding that a complaint for medical malpractice that is filed without an expert affidavit is void ab initio and must be dismissed).

II.

THERE IS NO COMPELLING REASON TO OVERTURN ESTATE OF CURTIS

This court will not overturn precedent "absent compelling reasons for so doing." *Miller v. Burk*, 124 Nev. 579, 596, 188 P.3d 1112, 1124 (2008). "Mere disagreement" with a prior opinion is not sufficient to overturn it. *Miller*, 124 Nev. at 596, 188 P.3d at 1124. The reasons for overturning must be "weighty and conclusive." *Miller*, 124 Nev. at 596, 188 P.3d at

abuse statute that would exceed the professional negligence cap.

1124. "Considerations of *stare decisis* have special force in the area of statutory interpretation, for here, unlike in the context of constitutional interpretation, the legislative power is implicated, and [the Legislature] remains free to alter what [the courts] have done." *Patterson v. McLean Credit Union*, 491 U.S. 164, 172 (1989). Yafchak asserts that this court should overturn *Curtis* because the Legislature intentionally excluded nursing homes from NRS 41A.071 to protect older persons from negligent care. *See* AOB 22.

As a threshold matter, *Curtis* is neither badly reasoned nor unworkable. *See Whitfield v. Nev. State Personnel Commission*, 137 Nev., Adv. Op. 34, 492 P.3d 571, 575 (2021) ("A prior holding that has proven 'badly reasoned' or 'unworkable' should be overruled."). *Curtis* reasonably applied Nevada law and persuasive authority from other jurisdictions to hold that claims based on vicarious liability for actions by providers of health care "cannot be used to circumvent NRS Chapter 41's requirements governing professional negligence lawsuits." *Estate of Curtis*, 136 Nev. at 353, 466 P.3d at 1267. The rule is simple: any claim based on a provider of health care's professional negligence is subject to NRS 41A.071's affidavit requirement. *Curtis* appropriately and reasonably held that a plaintiff cannot avoid the affidavit requirement by forgoing claims against the negligent provider of health care and instead only suing the entity who would be vicariously liable for the provider's actions. A contrary rule would incentivize gamesmanship where plaintiffs would forgo naming culpable actors to circumvent NRS Chapter 41A—just as Yafchak has done here.

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